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Blind A lleys
An Editorial By 

BISHOP JOHNSON

IT W OULD seem reasonable if we have intelligence 
that we should attribute intelligence to the Cre­

ator; that if we value integrity that one could not 
question the integrity of God; and that if the Father 
of us all has these qualities there are no blind alleys 
in man’s endeavor to find truth.

The assumption that we are justified in seeking only 
that which has been already demonstrated is as vicious 
as it is absurd for it is contrary to the whole scheme 
of progress. If the lower forms of life were evolved 
into higher species then the principle of development 
comes from an inward urge rather than from an out­
ward demonstration. What induced a primitive shell 
fish to get out of his shell and explore his environ­
ment? It Certainly must have been an inward urge 
and not external proof that he could do it. What in­
duced the cave man to quit his cave and build his 
house in the trees ? It certainly -was a hunch that there 
was a value beyond his previous experience. Why 
did the savage remain a savage excepting that he re­
fused to believe that there was something beyond his 
wigwam which was worth while.' History has shown 
that barbarians' have a latent power to develop, but 
so long, as they are satisfied with what they are and 
what they have they remain static. There is no his­
tory of - savage tribes because their lives are endless 
repetitions of previous actions.

The secret of progress lay not in the findings of 
primitive scientists but in the explorations of believing 
adventurers. “ I believe” was the motive power behind 
the efforts of the first scientists and artists. There 
was within them a latent energy which demanded 
that they pursue “the substance o f things hoped fo*r, 
the evidence of things not seen” even though they 
were laughed at by their fellow citizens and disciplined 
by their ecclesiastical superiors. “ I believe” lies be­
hind every advance in thought or action, and this 
faith could not demonstrate to the stupid that which 
it saw darkly as through very imperfect glass.

There are no blind alleys in God’s universe. Wher­

ever man has had the faith and the courage, to ex­
plore they have found that the trail opened up to 
conscientious effort. The human intellect is like a 
beggar who has been elevated to a throne on which 
he forgets his very humble origin. He started having 
little or nothing and finds himself in power because 
of the faith of his ancestors. He then makes the 
common mistake of thinking that “his might and his 
power had gotten him this wealth” whereas he is 
merely the product of those poor students who be­
lieved before they knew.

There are three lines along which the faith of 
primitive endeavor has travelled. In science, art and 
religion men have sought the true, the beautiful and 
the good. In each pursuit the beginnings have been 
very crude, the mistakes have been very many and the 
progress has been very slow. In these attacks upon 
the absurdities of primitive religion men seem to for­
get the absurdities, of primitive science and primitive 
art. They seem to expect that the authors of Joshua 
and Judges should have written their books with the 
knowledge, of a modern scientist. This is pure fun­
damentalism. It is queer that scientists should scoff 
at fundamentalism and then assume it when it is con­
venient. . .

God seems to have given man a universe in which 
He has hidden many treasures which man could 
appropriate only when they developed the capacity to 
appreciate. The real motive power behind this appre­
ciation is faith.

Faith in what?
In the integrity of the universe and of its Creator 

in which to those who overcome He giveth the 
victory. - - . . .

In this sense Job asked if a, man die shall he live 
again. The fact that he asked, it is an indication that 
the question is worth while. It certainly is not ab­
surd. “Why,”  says St. Paul,- “ should it be thought 
a strange thing that God should raise the dead?”  Cer­
tainly there is nothing more miraculous in raising the
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dead than there is in creating the living. It is not 
the New Jerusalem that is miraculous but rather New 
York. Wherever it came from the other may also 
originate. The radio it is true would have been a 
miracle to your grandfather because he lacked the 
knowledge to account for it. But the faith which 
believed in the integrity of nature resulted in develop­
ing the capacity to understand it.

Heaven is a miracle to us because we know not the 
essence o f either matter or spirit, nor have we yet 
discovered the law by which life is given to us now 
or hereafter. It is true that we walk by faith and 
not by sight, but as a matter of fact man always has 
so walked in the pursuit of that which lay beyond his 
experience.

It is only a step from believing in the integrity of 
nature to believing in the integrity of God, and that 
there are no blind alleys in man’s endeavor to appro­
priate the true, the beautiful and the good. I believe 
in a future life because I have found the beginning 
of the trail and am confident that it will lead to some­
thing decidedly worth while; but I also believe that 
this particular trail is different from that of science 
and art and requires a slightly different equipment for 
the journey. After all why should it be thought a 
thing inaredible that the Creator is a scientist and an 
artist and a lover of virtue.

Book Reviews
A rmor of L igh t , by Tracy D. Mygatt and Frances 

Witherspoon. Publishers, Henry Holt and Com­
pany, $2.00.
This is a story of early Christianity, with a realis­

tic setting placed in the Catacombs of Rome. It is 
good fiction to begin with; intensely moving, having 
all the thrill and excitement of tales of mystery and 
the like. And, it is good reading for modem Chris­
tians. They would glimpse an earnestness and a cour­
age which came from a faith for which men were 
wont to die. It is refreshing also, to turn back thru 
such a well constructed piece of work, and have pic­
tured a time in which simple men and women of great 
faith and living, turned the world upside down.

R. P. Kreitleri
* * *

E xploring R eligion W ith  E ight Y ear O lds, by 
Helen Firman Sweet and Sophia Lyon Fahs. Henry 
Holt and Company, $2.50.
In the field of religious education no finer example 

could be found of the practical application to the lives 
of children of higher criticism, behaviouristic psycho­
logy, and the democratic method with life-experience 
approach than is given in this book which is the actual 
diary of a teacher of third grade class in the Union 
School of Religion. She jots dowii comments made 
by the children under her instruction upon every con­
ceivable subject, from Jesus’ idea of God to military 
schools and war, and then fully transcribes them. The

book has one serious mechanical defect. The family 
background of the children should be placed in the 
front of the book so as to give the reader a better 
idea of the individual personalities of the pupils.

Mrs. Sweet is a keen psychologist. Her advice and 
guidance in conduct situations is sound and all that 
could be desired. Both teacher and pupils are forever 
exploring without seeming to make any definite dis­
covery. In her effort to get rid of the old anthropo­
morphic of God, Mrs. Sweet completely depersonal­
izes Him, leaving Him an abstraction in the minds of 
the children. When eight year olds, should be given a 
definite object of faith, even though later years of 
subjective experience may change the form of ex­
pression, this teacher leaves God, Jesus, and Immor­
tality spiritually unreal, and pupils puzzled and dis­
satisfied. The teacher speaks with authority when 
actual scientific facts are discussed, but when it comes 
to religion she admits that she doesn’t understand the 
interpretation of the simplest parable. How can her 
pupils be expected to keep on exploring when they aire 
told that “ no one is sure just what He is like” ? How 
can God become a reality to children who are taught 
“ it’s better to use your head because you always have 
it with you” than to trust yourself to a God who is 
anywhere or nowhere? One closes the book with the 
feeling that the teacher has let slip many golden oppor­
tunities for sharing a great religious faith and exper­
ience with children eager to grasp it. Leaders through­
out the country should read and study this book for 
technic in method of approach, but not for the pur­
pose of teaching religion.

Ellen Morris Noe.
¡k sk

T he  F oolishness of Preaching , by Earnest Fre­
mont Tittle. Henry Holt and Company.
When a reader can forget he is reading sermons, 

while doing so, it is surely high praise, and it was a 
fact with at least one reader of Dr. Tittle’s stimulat­
ing volume. The first and the last sermons are es­
pecially penetrating, but from first to last the sermons 
are characterized by their vital analysis of both the 
causes and the cure of many of the most difficult 
problems that arise, individually and socially, in the 
business of Christian living today.

Gardiner M. Day.
¡k sk *

E arly T raditions A bout Jesus, by J. F. Bethune- 
Baker. The Macmillan Co.
Although the title sounds like another collection of 

stories from “ the hidden years,”  in reality it is a life 
of Jesus based on the best modern scholarship, yet 
written with most remarkable simplicity and clarity. 
A  different event or feature of ouk Lord’s life is con­
sidered in each chapter. The author states the most 
accepted point of view and then gives the most prob­
able alternatives. Brief references for further read­
ing are added to each chapter. It is an excellent book 
for the layman who wants the facts about Jesus in 
brief compass. Gardinetr M. Day.
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Social Service in Long Island
The Work of the Church Charity. Foundation

By
REV. CHARLES HEN RY WEBB 

Director and Chaplain

'T 'H E  diocese of Long Island has, in the Church 
Charity Foundation, a group of charitable insti­

tutions of unusual interest from two points of view; 
first, because of a romantic story of development of

resources f r o m  
nothing at all to a 
value of five or six 
m i l l i o n  dollars; 
secondly, because 
of a basic idea in 
organization that is 
b e l i e v e d  to be 
unique. As to the 
growth and devel­
opment, it is the 
aim of this paper 
to trace that. As to 
the uniqueness of 
the idea, that is be­
lieved to consist in 
the fact that a va- 
r i e t y of philan­
thropic institutions 
are included in a 
single corporation: 

a home for the aged, an orphanage, a home for the 
blind, a general hospital, a school of nursing, and a 
religious order affiliated with them, the Sisterhood of 
St. John the Evangelist. Further expansion, in the 
creation of other departments, is provided for in the 
charter, and one or two such departments are now in 
contemplation. This is the idea that was intended to 
be expressed in the name,— a foundation upon which 
the Church could build up a number of institutions 
fqr a variety of purposes.

It was the Rev. Francis Vinton, rector of Grace 
Church, Brooklyn Heights, who conceived this idea, 
and it was under his leadership that the corporation 
was created and its charter procured, in 1852. The 
various departments that have since been developed 
are all provided for in the original charter. One re­
markable feature of the charter is the mention of a 
school for the training of nurses to care for the sick; 
remarkable because this charter was written in 1851, 
eight years before Florence Nightingale began, in St. 
Thomas’ Hospital, London, what is generally recog­
nized as the first nurses’ training course in the mod­
ern sense. If financial support for all the projects of 
the Church Charity Foundation had been immediate­
ly forthcoming, Brooklyn might have had the world’s 
first school of nursing; but as a matter of fact it was

forty years before this particular section of the Foun­
dation’s superstructure was begun.

T he  H ome for th e  A ged
The first department to come into actual operation 

was the Home for the Aged. There were no funds 
for land or buildings, but there were needy people 
without a home. A  modest beginning was made in 
a hired house on Carlton Ave., Brooklyn, one mem­
ber of Grace Church making himself responsible, if 
need be, for the rent. Four inmates were at once ad- 
mitter and others came soon after. The following year, 
under the necessity of having to care for a particular 
brood of newly-orphaned children, the adjoining house 
was rented, and an orphanage organized, some of the 
old ladies helping in the care of the children.

In 1856 a plot of ground was bought in a rural 
neighborhood but within the limits of the City of 
Brooklyn, ‘ ‘about three miles eastward from Fulton 
Ferry.”  Here Bishop Horatio Potter laid the corner­
stone of a building, and in i860 he dedicated it. It 
served for twelve years for both the aged people and 
the drphan children, and after that for the children 
alone. In 1868 the diocese of Long Island was erect­
ed, and promptly adopted the Church Charity Foun­
dation as a diocesan institution “ for which provision 
is recommended to be made so that each congregation 
in the diocese may make an annual contribution there­
to.” The Foundation at the same time made the 
Bishop of Long Island ex-officio president of its cor­
poration. In 1872 a second building was erected as 
a Home for the Aged, and the first building was 
wholly given over to the children.

St . Jo h n ’s H ospital
St. John’s Hospital began as a dispensary in 1870. 

Two years later a few rooms in the new Home for 
the Aged were allotted for temporary use as a hospi­
tal. A  Brooklyn churchwoman, Mrs. Julia W . Bull, 
who after the death o f her husband had joined Dr. 
Muhlenburg’s nursing sisterhood at St. Luke’s Hos­
pital, New York, was invited by Bishop Littlejohn to 
come back to Brooklyn and organize and superintend 
the embryo St. John’s Hospital. Sister Julia came, 
and brought with her another, Sister Emma. These 
two were the originators of the Order of St. John the 
Evangelist, which since that time has worked in the 
various houses on the Foundation.

Sister Julia raised funds to build at once, on adja- 
sent property which had meantime been acquired, a 
smalf frame building for a hospital with twenty-four 
beds. In a few years this was replaced by a fine 
large brick building of the best known hospital con-
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The Inner Court, Home For The A ged

struction, with a capacity fot about one hundred 
patients. In this building was also a beautiful chapel. 
This hospital and chapel were dedicated in 1882, 
thirty years after the chartering of the organization. 
The Foundation now supported a Home for 42 aged 
people, another for 76 orphan children, and a hospital 
of 100 beds. It had land and buildings to the value 
of 268,000, with mortgage debt of $41,400. It had 
also accumulated an endowment of $78,246, the in­
come of which was a considerable help towards the 
current expense.

School of N ursing
The School of Nursing, which was provided for in 

the charter, was not organized until 1896. Previous 
to that year the nursing was done by the Sisters. In 
1898 diplomas were given to the first five graduates. 
Since that time nearly two hundred and fifty have 
been graduated, and St. John’s nurses have come to 
be recognized both for professional ability and for 
Christian character. After the organization of the 
school the Sisters gradually gave over the nursing de­
partment to them, retaining for themselves the man­
agement of the Home for the Aged and the Orphan­
age. Of late their numbers have been reduced, and 
the novices admitted have not been sufficient in num­
ber to fill up the ranks. At present the Sisters have 
charge of the Social Service of the Hospital.

H ome, for th e  Blind
In 1896 a Home for the Blind, begun privately in 

Maspeth by the Maurice family, was transferred to 
the Church Charity Foundation, and has continued 
since that time as an integral part of the work.

Passing over intervening years of struggle and suc­
cess, of difficulty and development, it will suffice to 
describe the present condition of this group of char­
ities. All the buildings described above have served 
thei,r time and been razed, except the hospital, which 
has lately been vacated and is shortly to be renovated 
for new uses. The Home for the Aged and the Home 
for the Blind are now housed in a fine fire-proof 
building accommodating in its two departments 99 
people. Deaconess Agnes Louise Hodgkiss is in 
charge. The Children’s Cottages, replacing the old 
orphanage, are located fifty miles out on.Long Island, 
at Sayville, and have a present capacity of forty. The 
magnificent new St. John’s Hospital, erected in 1927-8 
after a successful campaign for one million dollars, 
under the enthusiastic leadership of Bishop Stires, is 
second to none in the city in the excellence of its plan, 
construction and equipment, and it has capacity for 
232 patients. Dr. H. Beeckman Delatour is Chief-of- 
Staff, and Mr. Leighton M. Arrowsmith is Superin­
tendent, and between the Home for the Aged and the 
new Hospital, and connecting by corridor with both, 
is the new St. John’s Chapel (Walter Gibb Memorial), 
an exquisite example of perpendicular Gothic, beau­
tiful in every appointment. Here the residents of the 
Homes, and nurses and convalescent patients from 
the Hospital, worship; and from its altar the Blessed 
Sacrament is carried to the sick in their beds. The 
Rev. Arthur H. Mellen is chaplain. The newly en­
larged Residence for Nurses has a capacity for 116, 
and the school, under the direction of Miss Mary 
Rogers, is rapidly expanding to that limit. The land
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and buildings in Brooklyn and Sayville are valued 
at about $3,000,000 and there is productive endow­
ment of over $2,600,000. Current expense is at pres­
ent about $375,000 per year.

A  large share of the credit for the success of the 
work and development of the institution belongs to 
the Woman’s Board, an auxiliary of more than four 
hundred women from nearly all the parishes of the 
diocese. They raise substantial sums of money annu­
ally, and give much invaluable personal service in the 
various houses.

The first superintendent of the whole wo'rk was 
the Rev. Albert C. Bunn, who served from 1891 to 
1901. Before that thé head of each house was sep­
arately responsible to a committee of the Board of 
Managers. In Dr. Bunn’s time the scientific develop­
ment of the hospital was the characteristic feature. 
Under him the pathological laboratory was begun, the 
school of nursing started, the ambulance service 
initiated. Fkom 1904 to 1922 the Superintendent was 
the Rev. Canon Paul Flynn Swett. Financial streng­
thening, and the beginning of a rebuildnig program, 
marked his term. The present executive has served 
since 1922.

Let this story be for the encouragement of those 
who are planning good works. Let them not “ des­
pise the day of small things.” The blessing of God 
may certainly be expected upon a work of charity, 
begun in faith and love, and carried on with prudence 
and devotion in the spirit of Him who “took on Him 
the fotrm of a servant.”

Let’s Know
By

BISHOP W ILSON  
W riting

T~\ID YOU ever stop to think what a different 
U  world it would be if we had no facilities for 
writing—no letters, no magazines, no books? Yet 
there was a time when writing was unknown.

The earliest inscription which we know anything 
about comes to us from Egypt and dates from 
somewhere around five thousand years before Christ. 
Stone was the material on which these first inscrip­
tions were made and it was the only material for a 
gfreat many centuries, not only in Egypt but else­
where. There was a reason why Moses delivered the 
Ten Commandments on tables of stone— because there 
was nothing else to write them on. A  little later 
clay came into use in Assyria and Babylonia. It was 
sun-baked clay which would take an impression when 
it was soft and could then be hardened for indefinite 
preservation. After this came wood, especially in 
ancient Greece. Wooden tablets were whitened so 
they would take the ink more easily and sometimes 
they were overlaid with a coating of wax in which 
marks could be made with a shalrp instrument.. The
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bark of the tree was used and linen and even lead. 
In Egypt at one time they kept accounts on potsherds. 
And then somebody discovered thé writing value of 
leather.

Dating from a couple of thousand years before 
Christ leather rolls are known to have been used and 
this was probably the material on which most of 
the Old Testament scriptures were originally Written. 
Most likely it was a leather roll on which Jeremiah 
inscribed his unwelcome message which was cut into 
ribbons arid cast into the fire. Then Egypt came to 
the front again with a new invention known as papy­
rus. This was a plant which grew in abundance 
along the Nile. ; The pith of the stem was cut into 
thin strips and laid side by side. Then other strips 
were laid on crosswise, making a double layer o f 
fibres which were pressed or glued together and o f­
fered a very satisfactory'surface for writing. Some­
times these sheets were used separately but more o f­
ten they were attached so that a roll could be formed. 
Often these rolls were exceedingly long, the longest 
on record being 144 feet. From Egypt papyrus went 
out into other lands and was used nearly everywhere 
until vellum began to take its . place in the fourth 
century A. D. It seems that the king o f Egypt be­
came jealous of the fine library of the king of Perg- 
amum and attempted to starve out his literary efforts 
by forbidding the export of papyrus from Egypt, 
So the king of Pergamum exercised a little ingenuity 
of his own and devised a means of tanning skin which 
produced vellum (if taken from calves) and parch­
ment (if taken from sheep). This was the material 
which was used in Europe through the Middle Ages 
on which the monks made their copies of the Holy 
Scriptures. It was not superceded by paper until the 
fifteenth century when the printing presses were al­
ready beginning to hum. Paper was, as we all know, 
first manufactured in China, though nobody knows 
how early. Along in the eighth century the Arabs 
discovered it during a campaign in the East and 
brought their discovery back with them. They trans­
mitted it to the Spaniards and Italians and eventually 
Europe began to make papér.

So when you throw away this issue of the W itness, 
remember that you owe a debt of gratitude to a long 
line of ancestors who have made it possible for Mr, 
Spofford to mail you a printed sheet instead of a 
big block of stone.

CONFIRMATION INSTRUCTIONS
By Bishop Johnson

The Standard Book of Instructions which 
hundreds of rectors use each year. 

50c a copy —  $4.00 a dozen

W I T N E S S  B O O K S
6140 Cottage Grove Ave. - Chicago
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N ews of

VfTHY do people leave the church?
™ I do not know, but here are rea­

sons recently vouched for by the rec­
tor of an eastern parish.

One man left because after an ab­
sence of two years he returned to 
find his pew rented to other parties; 
another removed from his parish be­
cause the paper napkins used at a 
children’s picnic had not been bought 
at his store; a third man was an­
gered at something he heard in the 
sermon, and announced his intention
never to attend that Church again, 
“ so long as that man is in charge” ; 
a fourth “got mad” because coming 
late to an oyster supper the oyster
stew served him contained no oys­
ters; a woman left one parish and 
affiliated with another because in 
the latter “ they say the dear old 
family prayers during Lent,”  while 
another woman refused any longer 
to attend her former parish, after 
the building had been repainted and 
redecorated. She had no objections 
to a new stained glass window, or 
the new altar with candles, nor to 
the new crucifix. “ No, I don’t mind 
these,”  she said,' “but a hardwood 
floor is too high church for me!”

H* H*
Buchmanites conducted services on 

Boston Common last Sunday under 
the auspices of the Greater Boston 
Federation of Churches. The speak­
ers were Jack Smith, Watertown; 
Viola Mitchell and Lewis Clark, 
Lynn; Rev. Frederic C. Lawrence, 
St. Peters Church, Cambridge; Fred 
Gilley, Boston; Marsden Chapman, 
Harvard University; George Shriver 
and Ted Shultz, Episcopal Theologi­
cal School, Cambridge.* * *

The convention of the diocese of 
Vermont was held in Middlebury on 
Tuesday and Wednesday of last 
week. There were addresses by the 
Rev. F. G. Deis, national secretary 
o f the National Council; the Rev. 
Lyman Rollins of White River Junc­
tion, V t.; Mr. John Spargo, once 
famous as a socialist, now, I am 
fold, a collector of antiques; Sir Wil­
fred Grenfell and Bishop Booth.

* * *
Forty-three of the seventy parishes 

and missions in the western Massa­
chusetts diocese are on the honor roll 
as having paid one hundred per cent 
or more of their missionary appor­
tionment for the first four months 
of 1930, according to announcement 
made by John W. B. Brand, missions 
treasurer. The missionary offerings 
for this period totaled more than the 
budget, being $28,927.32, against a 
budget of $28,566. The amount ob­

the Episcopal Church
Edited by

WILLIAM B. SPOFFORD

Bishop Brewster 
To Preach at Brighton

tained was $197 more than for this 
period in 1929, which was the best 
up to that time.

* * *
The Rev. Leigh R. Urban is to be­

come canon resident of Christ 
Church Cathedral, Springfield, Mass., 
October first, resigning the rector­
ship of Holy Trinity, Southbridge, 
Mass.

*  *  *

Seven hundred uniformed nurses 
attended a service recently at St. 
Paul’s Cathedral, Los Angeles, spon­
sored by the Guild of St. Barnabas. 

* * *
The Very Rev. J. Wilmer Gresham 

recently observed his 20th anni­
versary as dean of Grace Cathedral, 
San Francisco.•I®

The vicar of Holy Trinity Church, 
Brighton, England, is the Rev. 
Horace Fort, a graduate of Trinity 
College and the Berkeley Divinity 
School, and for several years an offi­
cer of the Church League for Indus­
trial Democracy. This parish church 
was made famous by the Rev. F. W. 
Robertson, great English preacher 
who was one of the first Christian 
socialists. This summer several 
American Bishops have been invited 
to preach there. Bishop Wilson of 
Eau Clair is to be there as guest 
preacher on July 27th and Bishop 
Parsons of California, president of 
the C.L.I.D., is to be there on July 
29th, and Bishop Brewster of Maine, 
another officer of the League, is to 
preach there August 3rd.* * *

Women henceforth can be elected 
delegates to the synod of the

province of the Pacific, due to action 
taken at thè synod held recently in 
San Francisco. Conferences on vari­
ous phases pf Church work were held 
and visits made to various Church
institutions in the city.$ $ $

The choir of the Russian Cathe­
dral in New York sang at the after­
noon service last Sunday at the 
Cathedral of St. John the Divine.

He  ̂ ^
The conference of the diocese of 

West Virginia is to be held at Jack­
son’s Mill, June 9-14. Faculty; Bish­
op Strider, Rev. P. S. Atkins, Rev. 
J. Wagner, Rev. E. L. Gettier, Miss 
Lily Cheston, Miss Margaret Mars- 
ton, Miss Esther Fifield, Miss Fanny 
Pratt and Miss Helen Wharton.* * *

Eighty ministers of the York 
County (Pa.) ministerial association 
made a pilgrimage to the Washing­
ton Cathedral early in May, with the 
Rev. Paul S. Atkins as host.

. $ * $
Bishop Darlington of Harrisburgh, 

speaking at a dinner in his honor 
given on the 25th anniversary of his 
consecration, said that there was no 
job that fell to him as a diocesan 
which was more difficult, or more 
satisfying, that the advising of young 
people in regard to marriage. To 
insure martial happiness he urged 
long betrothals which he said, “ are 
the real trial marriages.”  Speakers 
at the banquet included the Rev. 
Floyd W. Tomkins of Philadelphia,
Bishop Gravatt of West Virginia, 
General Charles M. Clement, chan­
cellor of the diocese, and the Rt. Rev. 
Francis Hodur, who is of the Polish 
National Catholic Church of Amer­
ica, according to the report received. 
The treasurer of the diocese, Richard 
M. H. Wharton, in the name of the 
diocese, presented the bishop and 
Mrs. Darlington with $2400 “to be 
used however they deem best.”

* * *
Convention of Erie was held at 

Franklin, Pa., May 20-21. The busi­
ness of the convention was quickly 
disposed of after which there was 
lively conferences on religious edu­
cation, social service, rural work.* * *

The 2nd annual convention of the 
diocese of Eau Claire was held at 
Superior on May 21. Bishop Wilson 
gave a most stimulating annual ad­
dress, and also was the speaker at 
the dinner, along with Captain Atkin­
son of the Church (Army and the Rev. 
Fred Deis, who seems to be getting 
about a lot to tell folks of the Ad­
vanced Work. The diocese accepted
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their project which calls for $1200 
to buy some land in the Virgin 
Islands. * * *

The Rev. Herbert A. Donovan, mis­
sionary to Liberia, has been giving 
addresses on the work there in the 
diocese of Minnesota; he spoke be­
fore the clericüs at St. Paul, to the 
students at Shattuck, addressed the 
annual meeting of the Auxiliary, and 
also presented the work to innumer­
able parish groups.$ %

Real progress in diocesan affairs 
were reported at the convention of 
the dioeese of Western Massachu­
setts, held at Westfield on May 21. 
Several new buildings have been 
erected, a deanery has been given to 
the cathedral in Springfield, a city 
missioner has been appointed for 
Pittsfield and one will soon be named 
for Worcester. The Rev. C. E. Snow­
den, executive secretary of the field 
department of the National Council 
presented the Advanced Work Pro­
gram and the convention voted to 
accept their project which calls for 
$22,000 for work among the Negroes 
of South Carolina.

*  *  *

Vermont plans to develop the dio­
cesan centre at Rock Point, Burling­
ton, as a memorial to Bishop Hall. 
The plan provides for the erection 
of a cathedral shrine, for the revival 
of the boy’s school, and the estab­
lishment of permanent headquarters 
for missionary work. There will also 
be an outdoor ampitheatre for the 
holding of regular mission services. 

* * *
The diocese of Kentucky has had 

its first institute on family relations, 
arranged by the social service com­
mittee of the diocese. It was held 
in Louisville and was directed by 
Dr. Frank J. O’Brien who led a con­
ference on mental hygiene.

* * *
A new chapel was recently opened 

in the Colonial Heights section of 
Sacramento— St. Christopher’s, dedi­
cated by Bishop Moreland on May 
13. The Rev. A. J. Mockford, city 
missioner, is in charge.

sfc *  *

Children to the number of 1400 
were in the choir of the Cathedral of 
St. John the Divine, New York, for 
the annual presentation service, 
with 1600 other delegates attending 
the service. Bishop Manning gave 
the address, Canon Prichard made 
the awards, and the total offering 
was close to $41,000.* * *

The Diocese of Kentucky seems to 
be one to promote the growth of long 
terms of service for choristers. The 
current issue of the Bishop’s letter 
contains the picture of Mr. M. M. 
Hewitt of Grace Church, Paducah, 
who has sung in that choir for 43

T H E  W I T N E S S

years. Previous to that time, when 
living in Louisville, he sang in the 
choirs of Grace Church and St. 
John’s Church from 1876 to 1888, 
making a record of 54 years as a 
loyal and faithful choir member. An 
even longer record was that of Mr. 
J. H. M. Morris, now deceased, who 
was a member of the choir of Christ 
Church Cathedral, Louisville fa 
brother in law of its first Dean) who 
served with distinction for 61 years.

Building: projects in the diocese of
Arkansas; St. Luke’s, Hot Springs,
has been given permission to borrow 
cash for building purposes. Trinity 
Cathedral, Little Rock, is planning 
to build a parish house. St. Mary’s, 
El Dorado, is to turn its rectory into 
a parish house.* * *

A class of 56 was confirmed at 
Grace Church, Everett, Mass., on 
May 16 bringing the total confirmed 
during the' past five months to 115. 
June 1st was observed as the 2nd 
anniversary of the present rector, 
the Rev. William H. Pettus, under 
whose leadership the parish has 
made many advances.# * *

In 1880 Rodney A. Mercur at­
tended his first convention of the 
diocese of Bethlehem, hence this

Page Nine

years’, which met at the Church of 
the Nativity, Bethlehem, May 20th, 
was his 50th. He also has a record 
of 50 years as a vestryman at Christ 
Church, Towanda. The Convention 
voted to do everything possible to 
collect $25,000 for the General 
Seminary toward the fund now being 
raised.

* * *
This year’s conference of newly 

appointed foreign missionaries takes 
place in Hartford, Conn., June 3 to 
10, at the Kennedy School of Mis­
sions. The groups taking part are 
the foreign mission boards, societies 
or departments of the Presbyterians, 
Reformed Church, Baptists, Metho­
dists, Congregationalists and Epis­
copalians. The Rev. H. S. Donovan 
of the Liberia mission presides over 
one session; Dr. Mary James of 
Wuchang speaks on medical missions. 
The program includes general ad­
dresses and discussions of interest to 
the whole group, and sectional meet­
ings divided according to geography 
or kind of work or special problems. 
Dr. Zeemer, Dr. Speer and other 
internationally famous leaders are 
to attend. He He $

St. Paul’s, Manhattan, Kansas, 
seats 90 people, including the choir. 
There are over 100 Episcopalians

Every Churchman
may share in the

Church’s Forward Movement
'T 'H E  Advance W ork Program of some 1 70 items of for­

ward work in all mission fields of the Church, is to be 
completed by Epiphany 1931.

Dioceses and missionary districts have accepted the 
various projects and are offering them to their parishes and 
missions, and to individuals.

Projects may be sub-divided, so that everyone may have 
a part in whatever piece of work is undertaken.

If a Church is to be built in some mission field, Church 
School Classes, Parish Organizations, Auxiliary Branches, 
Men’s Clubs, may undertaake to buy a roof, a floor, doors 
and windows, heating and lighting equipment. Individuals 
may supply as memorials, Altar, Reredos, pews, font, bell. 
There is the story of a group of small boys who are to buy 
hardware required in construction of a parish house, and of 
a similar group that is to supply shutters.

There is inspiration in the thought that the smallest child 
and the wealthiest Churchman can join in the whole Church’s 
advance.

Ask your Rector about the Advance Work 
Items Undertaken by Your Diocese

The National Council
CHURCH MISSIONS HOUSE

281 Fourth Avenue New York
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In Washington stay at

The Washington National
C e n t e r  of The Girls’  Friendly Society 

Inexpensive - Attractive 
1533 New Hampshire Ave.

___________ Booklet on Request___________

RETREAT FOR WOMEN
Society o f the Companions of the Holy Cross 

Adelynrod, South Byfield, Mass.
June 21 - 23

Rev. T . A. Conover, Conductor
Total cost $5.50 

Register with Helena S. Dudley 
Leighton Road, Wellesley, Mass.

BLAIR ACADEMY
A School for 300 Boys 

Beautiful Location. 65 Miles from New 
York. Graduates in Leading Eastern Colleges. 
Thorough Preparation for College Board 
Examinations and Certificates. Junior School 
for 7th and 8th grades.

Excellent Equipment. 310 Acres. Gymna­
sium. Pool. Athletics for all Boys.

For Catalog Address The Headmaster, 
Charles H. Breed, Ed. D., Box W, 

Blairstown, N. J.

WILLIAM SMITH COLLEGE
FOR WOMEN 

Geneva, New York
Co-ordinate with Hobart College. Four 

year Liberal Arts Course leading to the de­
grees o f A.B. and B.S.

For catalogue and information address 
Faye Huntington Klyver, Ph.D., Dean

till}? M i l l f t  ^ iu ö in a
226 So. 11th Street, Philadelphia, Pa. 

STAINED GLASS. MOSAICS, MURALS, 
MEMORIAL BRONZES, ETC.

ASK' YOUR BOOKSELLER FOR

OXFORD
Catalog Upon Request

OXFORD UNIVERSITY PRESS 
114 Fifth Ave. New Y ork

C h u r c h R i r n i t u r e
Pews, Pulpits, Chancel Furniture 

Sunday School Seating 
American Seating Company

1024 Lytton Bldg., Chicago 

New York _________Boston

who are students in the State Col­
lege which is located there. Also 
since the Rev. W. A. Jonnard became 
rector about a year ago the congre­
gation has nearly doubled, with 135 
active communicants at the present 
time. Manhattan is also the centre 
of a large state wide rural church 
work. Obviously new buildings are 
needed. Mr. Jonnard has plans for 
an enlargement of-the present beau­
tiful church and for a plain but ade­
quate parish house. Funds are being 
sought, the appeal being nation-wide, 
with the approval of Bishop Wise.* * *

The Northeastern deanery of the 
diocese of Chicago met at St. Mark’s 
Evanston, May 26, the speaker in 
the morning being the Rev. H. W. 
Prince who spoke on Gandhi and 
India; the speaker in the afternoon 
being the Rev. S. E. Keeler, who 
spoke on the “ Bishops Crusade and 
After.” * * *

“ The Hiking Troubadours”  Which 
is the name of a gang of Church 
Army boys now on the march, are 
at present in the diocese of West 
Virginia, where they are visiting in 
nine parishes. H*  ̂ ^

At Mendon, Mass., a new retreat 
house has just been opened— Seabury 
House. It is located in a quiet se­
cluded spot, yet accessible by rail 
and car. There is a small stone 
chapel and a comfortable house. It 
is hoped that the house may be used 
for retreats, group meetings and con­
ferences. * * *

The Rev. Robert B. Gooden was 
consecrated Bishop Suffragan of Los 
Angeles in St. Paul’s Cathedral, Los 
Angeles on May 27th. The consecra- 
tor was Bishop Stevens, with Bishops 
Sanford and Moreland as co-conse- 
crators. He was presented by Bish­
ops Moulton and Mitchell and the 
sermon was preached by Bishop Par­
sons of California.i  ^

The Rev. Robert N. Spencer, we 
are informed, has accepted his elec­
tion as Bishop Coadjutor of West 
Missouri. He was elected May 13. 
Others to receive substantial votes 
were the Rev. Benjamin Washburn, 
the Rev. Henry Neal Hyde and the 
Rev. blames P. DeWolf. He is to 
have charge of the missionary work 
of the diocese. The Advanced Work 
Program was presented by the Rev. 
Fred G. Deis, national field secretary, 
and the convention voted to under­
take the raising of $5,000. The con­
vention also voted to make applica­
tion to the National Council for a 
grant of $4000 for missionary and 
social work within the diocese.# * *

The revised constitution, revised 
canons and revised set of rules of

NASHOTAH HOUSE
Founded in 1842

THEOLOGICAL SEMINARY 
and

COLLEGIATE DEPARTMENT
Academic Year Begins October 1st. 

For particulars address the dean

NASHOTAH HOUSE
Nashotah, Wisconsin

Mural Decorations 
Stained Glass Windows

BALANO STUDIOS
2025 Spring Garden Street 

PHILADELPHIA

Edwin S. Gorham«, Inc.
CHURCH PUBLISHER AND 

BOOKSELLER
Eighteen West Forty-fifth Street 

NEW YORK. N. Y.

P E W S  and S A N C T U A R Y  
F U R N T IU R E

Designs and Prices Sent on Request

MANITOWOC CHURCH 
FURNITURE CO.
Waukesha, W isconsin

SINGING EAGLE LODGE
Squam Lake, White Mountains,

New Hampshire
For those who wish all the advantages of 

an advanced camp combined with the study 
and practice o f Christian ethics. Girls eight 
to eighteen. Separate nursery camp. Close 
medical supervision. Trips: Mountain, canoe, 
Quebec, Isles of Shoals.

DR. ANN TOMKINS GIBSON. Director 
6323 Lancaster Avenue, Philadelphia, Pa.

CEADiBOEC
4  i n f  W rites  f o r  

I cvP C i-t e r a tu r e
Suggestions and estimates furnished for Movable 
Assembly Seating. Sunday School Class Tables 
and Chairs. Folding Chairs and Tables.

R e a d s b o r q  C h a i r  Co., Mfrs*
Readsboro, Vermont

f H O O P I N G  
COUGH

Don’t disorder child’s stomach to check 
whooping cough; just rub chest with 
Roche’s Embrocation, choice of mothers for 
over 100 years. Safely, surely relieves 
choking, breaks congestion and loosens 
phlegm. Equally good for  Bronchitis, 
Croup and Chest Colds.

Sold by A ll Druggists or 
E . F O U G E R A  &  CO., Inc., N ew  Y o r k  
W. Edwards & Sons, London, Eng., Props.
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order were considered at the conven­
tion of Long Island, held at Garden 
City, May 20-21. It was expected 
that there might be some show of 
feeling over these various matters, 
as there has been in the past, but 
as a matter of fact, while they were 
thoroughly discussed, they were 
adopted unanimously. In addition to 
exceeding its quota to the National 
Council the diocese has an enlarged 
program of extension within the dio­
cese, with important new work to
be started shortly.* * *

The Rev. George Parkin Atwater 
gave the address at the service held 
in connection with the spring festi­
val of the Church Charity Founda­
tion, Long Island, held last week.* * *

Bishop Creighton was the speaker 
at the annual out-of-town meeting 
of the diocese of Long Island, held
last Friday at Oyster Bay.* * *

The council of the diocese of South­
western Virginia was held May 20- 
21 at Trinity, Staunton. The fea­
ture event was the service celebrat­
ing the tenth anniversary of the con­
secration of Bishop Jett. There were 
addresses of praise and a trip to the 
Lambeth Conference and a new auto­
mobile, both gifts of the people of the 
diocese. At the request of Bishop 
Jett, the Rev. T. D. Lewis, president 
of the standing committee, put to the 
bishop the questions which were 
asked at his consecration, and he 
reaffirmed the pledges then given. 
The bishop then called! the clergy to 
the chancel and they in turn reaf­
firmed the pledges of their ordination 
to the priesthood. And that wasn’t 
all; the congregation was then asked 
to reaffirm their confirmation vows. 
Another interesting occasion during 
the convention was the meeting of 
the Layman’s League with addresses 
by several leading laymen. The busi­
ness of the convention was entirely 
routine. * * *

At the Church club dinner of the 
diocese of Delaware held at the coun­
try club near Dover on May 15th 
Mr. A. J. County, vice president of 
the Pennsylanvia railroad, made a 
telling speech on the similiarity of 
the running of a railroad system to 
the work of the Church. In com­
menting on the speech of Mr. County 
Bishop Cook said that the construct­
ing of the great system of high­
ways throughout the length of Dela-

|| Welcome to This Inn of Hospitality in New York

PRINCE GEORGE HOTE
ft Fifth Avenue and Twenty-eighth Street
^ ALBURN M. GUTTERSON, Manager

1000 Rooms with Bath
|| Single with Bath $3 to $4 Double with Bath $4 to $6 
\\ A HOME IN THE HEART OF THINGS

911 Many Bishops and Clergymen make this H otel their 
H om e when in New York 

II —

Holderness School m u

In the Beautiful White Mountains year
For Boys from Ten to Eighteen Years 
Grades Six to Eight and Four Years

College Preparatory . X r .
1! i

Certifies for Dartmouth and other lead- A? 
ing colleges —  Individual supervision /W

and small classes ;

The Holderness Boy is a happy and contented \^\ 
youth— all Boy —  alive and vigorous —  but earnestly 
interested in fitting himself for manhood. VhX

New Hampshire is famous as a winter playground and 
serves to bring the best out of growing boys— invigorating 
mind and muscle. y l

20 Acre Campus —  Facilities for All Sports '  
Address Rev. Alban Richey, Jr.

Box W  Plymouth, New Hampshire
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= THE DIOCESAN SCHOOL OF MARYLAND

| ||t. ilam ra ^»rliool
E Established 1842. The first church boarding school
EE of the English type in America.
=  For Boys 12-18. College preparation and business
=  courses.
E New fireproof buildings. Six miles from Hagerstown.
=  In the middle of the Cumberland Valley, a few miles
E  west of the Blue Ridge Mountains and east of the
EE Alleghanies.

fEtiatiiam îfall
A Church School for Girls in Southern Vir­
ginia. Thorough College Preparation. General, 
Advanced and Special Courses. Excellent 
Secretarial Training. 175 Acre Estate. Out­
door Life the Year Round. Swimming Pool, 
Saddle Horses, Golf Course. For Catalog Ad­
dress Rev. Edmund J. Lee, D.D., Rector, 
Box W, Chatham, Virginia.

For Catalog Address

Adrian H. Onderdonk, A.M . (Trinity), Headmaster 
ST. JAMES, MARYLAND

M
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THE BLUE MOUNTAIN  
CONFERENCE

H ood College, Frederick, Md.
June 30 - July 11 

A General Church Conference
For All Those Interested ini the 

Church’s Life and Work 
Including

The School of Religious Drama 
and-

The Children’s Conference
(for Children in the 1st to the 6th 

Grades, inclusive)
Further Information from :

Rev. N. B. Groton, Executive Officer
Whitemarsh, Pa.

The RECTORY SCHOOL
Pomfret, Connecticut 

For Boys 8 to 14 Years
R£V. FRANK H. BIGELOW 

Headmaster

ST. M AR Y’S SCHOOL
Concord, N ew  Hampshire

College Preparatory and General Courses 
A homelike school in healthful surroundings 

Tuition $900.
MISS M. E. LADD, Principal

ST. M ARGARET’S 
Boarding School for Girl*

Boise, Idaho
Founded in 1892

MRS. MARY SCARP STRATTE, Principal
W rite for Information

S t . K a t h a r i n e ’ s  S c h o o l° o
0 U nder the care of the Sisters of St. 0 

Mary. A thorough preparatory school 
o for a limited number of girls. Recom- ° 

mended by leading colleges. Beautiful 
°  grounds. Outdoor sports, riding and 
o swimming. Ask for our catalog, o 

' Tremont Ave., Davenport, Iowa Q

DONALDSON
l  Church School on an Estate of 180 aeree. 
Near Baltimore and Washington. Prepara­
tion for all colleges. For boys 10-18. Super­
vised athletics. New Fireproof dormitory. 
Richard W . Bomberger, M.A., Uchester, Md.

= < & >
For 70 years Shat- 
tuck has been a 
leader among church 
college preparatory 
schools in the West.
Not operated for 
profit. Aims to de­
velop High Scholar­
ship, Manly Charac­
ter, Christian Citi- 
z e n s h i p. Military 
system trains for 
service and patriot­
ism. Boys may be 
entered at mid-year or

Address the Rector, Shattuck School.
Faribault, Minn.

Shattuck School

ware has had the effect of breaking 
down sectional barriers of ignorance 
and prejudice and has brought the 
people of the whole diocese together 
as a working unit such as could not 
have existed in the past.

Hi *  Hi

Bishop Rowe advanced three dea­
cons to the priesthood in St. Mat­
thew’s, Fairbanks, Alaska, on May 
7; M. ,F. Williams, in charge of 
St. Stephen’s, Fort Yokon; W. R. 
Macpherson of All Saints, Anchor­
age and E. A. McIntosh of St. 
Mark’s, Nenana.

^  *  Hi

The diocese of Albany figures that 
over 3000 children attended the four 
services for the presentation of Len­
ten offerings, held in different cen­
tres. The total offering was more 
than $8000. * * *

The corner stone for the new par­
ish house for the Good Shepherd,
Ruxton, Maryland, was laid May
18th by the rector, the Rev. W. O. 
Smith Jr. When this fine building is 
finished in  ̂September the parish will 
have one of the most complete plants 
in the diocese of Maryland.* *

The Rev. Royal K. Tucker, rector 
of St. Mark’s, Brunswick, Ga., ob­
served the 25th anniversary of his 
ordination recently.

He *  *

The Council of Colored Church­
man of the diocese of 'Georgia met in 
Augusta last week, the Bishop pre­
siding. The Colored branch of the 
Woman’s Auxiliary met at the same 
time.

* * *
An association for the founding of 

the Gertrude Butz Memorial Home 
was organized at the convention of 
the diocese of Newark which met in 
Orange last month. This home for 
orphans and destitute children is the 
gift of the late George W. Butz 
as a memorial to his wife, and will 
be one of the finest of Church homes 
when completed.

Hi Hi Hi

The convention of the diocese of 
Springfield was held this year at 
St. John’s, Centralia, the first time 
that a mission congregation has en­
tertained the convention. The dinner 
was held the evening before with Dr. 
L. W. Glazehrook, the Rev. Herbert 
W. Prince and1 the Rev. R. A. Seil- 
hamer as speakers. Bishop White’s 
report dealt with work within the 
diocese and showed advancement all
along the line.

... *  *

Bishop Sumner presented diplomas 
to forty nurses graduating this year 
from the school of the Good Samar­
itan Hospital, Portland, Oregon.* * *

St. John’s, Keokuk, Iowa, cele­
brated their 80th anniversary May

CHILDREN’S HOSPITAL
in Nefv York. Sisters of St. Mary (Episco­
pal), 406 W. 34th Street. Accredited School 
o f Nursing, two years and eight months. 
Major subject children. Adult and maternity 
nursing in affiliated hospitals. Single rooms. 
Full maintenance and allowance. Write for 
booklet.

CHURCH LINEN
We import direct from the weaver and 

specialize in extra fine quality Pure Irish 
Linen for Altar and Vestment use. Lengths 
cut to order. 10% discount on orders over 
$25.00. Samples and Prices on request. 
Mary Fawcett Co.. Box 146, Plainfield, N. J.
CATHEDRAL STUDIO, WASHINGTON AND 

London. Church embroideries, also cha­
subles, surplices, exquisite Altar linens, Altar 
hangings, ete. Stoles with crosses, $7.60 up, 
burse and veil, $15 u p ; Silk damask cope, 
$120; Silk damask chasuble, $40 u p ; Silk 
damask Mass sets from $60, imported duty 
free, if for the Church. Miss L. V. Mackrill, 
11 W. Kirk St., Chevy Chase, Washington, 
D. C. Tel. Wisconsin 2752.

THE UNDERSIGNED DESIRES TO COR- 
respond with any priest who makes Holy 

Communion with Hymns and Sermon the 
regular Sunday Morning Service in his 
church. Frank T. Hallett, 2 Bingley Terrace, 
Thornton, R. I.

A  HOME MAY BE SECURED FOR A 
Young Child or family of Children, ex­

perienced care, cultured surroundings in 
Christian home ideal southern year round 
climate, references exchanged. Address, Wit­
ness, Box 2; 931 Tribune Bldg., New York 
City.

▲
Clean
Mind HOWE —— INDIANA

lit a
Sound
Body

k  Thorough and Select CHURCH SCHOOL 
for Boys

Special attention given to College prepara­
tion. The Lower School for Little Boys En­
tirely Separate in New $100,000 Building. 
Rev. Charles Herbert Young, M.A., Rector 

ADDRESS P. O. BOX. HOWE, IND.

rBannah JDnrp-.
DIOCESAN SCHOOL OF MARYLAND 

Founded 1832
A Country School for Girls, fifteen 

miles from Baltimore. College Prepara­
tory and General Course. Music. Art. 
Supervised Athletics. Rates are moderate. 
Principal MISS LAURA FOWLER, A.B. 

Box W, Reistertown, Maryland

Washington 'Cathedral
& Witness for Christ in the Capital a f the Natien

< ♦ 4 4 t
fH B CHAPTER appeals to Churchmen through­
out the country for gifts, large and small, to  
continue the work of building now proceeding, 
and to maintain its work, Missionary, Education, 
Charitable, for the benefit of the whole Church, 

Chartered under A ct of Congress.
Administered by a  representative Board of 

Trustees of leading business men, Clergymen 
and Bishops.

Pull Information will be given by the Bishop 
of Washington, or the Dean, Cathedral Offices, 
Mount St. Alban, Washington, D. C „ who wOl 
receive and acknowledge all contributions, 

r 4 4 4
legal Titla for Use in Making Wills:

(The Protestant Episcopal Cathedral Foundation 
of the District of Columbia
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18 and 19 with prayer and feasting. 
The honor guest during the celebra­
tion was Bishop Longley. Many 
notable records have been established 
in the parish; the Rev. J. 0 . Mcllwain 
was rector for forty years; Mr. 
H'oward Tucker was vestryman and 
warden for fifty years, and the pres­
ent senior warden, Mr. H. W. Up- 
ham is now serving his 48th year as 
vestryman and warden.

* ..
Mr. Spencer Mi$j&r* Jri; consultant 

on industrial relations for the 
National Council and director of the 
Workers Education Bureau is now 
also the director of the Citizens Com­
mittee on American Prisons. - The 
purpose of the committee is to call 
public attention to prison conditions 
which are an affront to civilization. 
On the committee are Cardinal 
Hayes, Dr. Cadman, Walter Lipp- 
man, Otto Kahn, Walter Damrosch, 
Bishop Manning, Norman Thomas, 
Dr. C. K. Gilbert, Mr. John M.
Glenn, Dean C. N. Lathrop and Mr. 
Matthew Woll.

* * *
Ellen Gammack, student worker at 

the University of Michigan, told of 
the work of the Church there at the 
golden jubilee of the Woman’s 
Auxiliary of the diocese of Western 
Michigan, held at St. Mark’s, Grand 
Rapids, May 20-21. There was con­
siderable discussion of the advanced 
work program.

* * * ■
The Negro star of “ Green Pas­

tures,”  Richard B. Harrison, ac­
claimed by critics, read the lesson 
at the evening service last Sunday

A ll Kitchen, Pantry and Cafeteria Equipment 
for the New Building of

ST. JOHN’S HOSPITAL
Brooklyn, New York 

W AS DESIGNED AND MANUFACTURED 

by

BRAMHALL, DEANE COMPANY
49 East 21st Street
NEW YORK CITY

T H E .  W I T N E S S

at St. George’s, New York. The 
service was devoted largely to Negro 
Spirituals, sung and many of them 
composed by Harry T. Burleigh, for 
thirty-six years a member of the 
choir at St. George’s.

% $ $
“ Jehovah tries to make up for 

last week’s defeat” ; “ St. Luke forges 
to the front” ; “ A trouncing handed 
to St. Stephen’s.”  These and similar 
headlines are being objected to by a 
weekly of the Lutheran Church. They 
appear on the sport pages of dailies 
and refer to athletic contests between 
teams of various churches. Stop the 
games, change the names of the teams 
or cut out the publicity rather than

S. D U N S T A N ’S C O L L E G E  O F  
SA C R E D  M U SIC

IN AFFILIATION with Brown University, 
the College offers a course leading to 

degrees o f A.B. and Mus.Bac. The course is 
designed especially to meet needs of students 
desiring career as church choirmasters and 
organists. The College has at its disposal all 
the facilities o f Brown University, including 
Pembroke College for Women; all academic 
work, such as English, modern languages, 
History, Science, etc., will be done in the 
regular University courses. The College will 
offer courses in Musical Theory (Harmony, 
Counterpoint, Canon, Fugue, Form) ; Impro­
visation ; Organ-Playing ; Organ-Construc­
tion ; Chamber-Music ; Choir-Training and 
Organization ; Sunday-School Music ; courses 
in the History of Music ; Hymnology and 
Plainsong ; Liturgies, Theology, the Bible, 
the Psychology of Worship and Worship- 
Forms ; Pageantry ; Church Art and Archi­
tecture. In the chapel o f the College students 
will have opportunity for laboratory work in 
actual service-playing, under expert criticism. 
Demonstration work in choir and voice train­
ing will be provided through the Choir-School 
of the College, and the two professional 
choirs maintained by the College.

For fuller information and catalogue, ad­
dress The Rector, Rev. Walter Williams, 84 
Benefit Street, Providence, R. I.

Page Thirteen

take sacred names in vain,' says the 
weekly.

He Hi *

Bis/hop Shayler preached at the

M. P. MOLLER 
PIPE ORGANS
Builder o f the electric 
o r g a n ,  St .  John’s 

Chapel, Brooklyn. 
The world’s l a r g e s t  

organ factory. 
Moller Organs lead all 
makes for every use, 
and are fully guaran­

teed.
Endorsed by the most 

eminent organists. 
Every organ a special 

creation.
B ook le ts , specifica­
tions and full particu­

lars on request.

Address:

M.P. MOLLER,
Factory and General 

• Offices,
Hagerstown, Maryland
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^rututaru
Three-year undergraduate course of pre- 

•cribed and elective study.
Fourth-year course for graduates, offering 

larger opportunity for specialization.
Provision for more advanced work, leading 

to degrees of S. T. M. and S. T. D. 
ADDRESS

THE DEAN
1 Chelsea Square New York City

Episcopal Theological School
CAMBRIDGE, MASSACHUSETTS 

Affiliation with Harvard University offers 
unusual opportunities in allied fields, such as 

philosophy, psychology, history, 
sociology, etc.

TERM BEGINS SEPTEMBER 2SRD 
For Catalogue Address the Dean

Berkeley Divinity 
School

New Haven, Connecticut 
Affiliated with Yale University 
Address DEAN W. P. LADD 

80 Sachem Street

DIVINITY SCHOOL IN 
PHILADELPHIA

Undergraduate and Graduate Courses 
Privileges at University of Pennsylvania 

Address:
DEAN BARTLETT, 42nd and Locust Streets

SEABURY-CARLETON
THEOLOGY LIBERAL ARTS

Best Training—Minimum Cost 
For information and catalogue write 

KEY. FREDERICK KRAMER, Ph.D., D.D. 
Seabury Hall, Faribault, Minn.

The Protestant Episcopal 
Theological Seminary in Virginia

For catalogue and other information 
address the Dean

REV. BERRYMAN GREEN, D. D. 
Theological Seminary Alexandria, Va.

HOBART COLLEGE
Geneva, N. Y.

A Church college for men, founded 1822. 
Four year liberal arts course, leading to 
the degrees A.B. and B.S. High Stand­
ards ; faculty of thirty. For catalogues 
and information address 
REY. HURRAY BARTLETT, D.D., Pres.

TRINITY COLLEGE
Hartford, Conn.

- Offers a general cultural education, with 
special emphasis on the Classics, Modern 
Languages, English, Economics, History, 
Philosophy, Chemistry, Mathematics and 
Physics, Biolo'gy and Pre-Medical, or Pre- 
Xngineering. For information apply, The 
Dean.

Qt. ALBAN’S
^  S Y C A M O R E , IL L .

Episcopal Boarding School for Boya, 
from Fifth Grade through High School. Fully 
accredited.
The Rev. Chas. L. Street, Ph.D., Headmaster 

718 Somonauk Street, Sycamore, 111.

7 0 th  commencement ' of Seabury 
Divinity School, when eleven men re­
ceived diplomas from Bishop Mc- 
Elwain. The doctorate was conferred 
upon the Rev. John Flockhart, 
worker among the Indians of South 
Dakota. * * *

Due to grants from the National 
Council several building projects are 
now going forward in the district 
of Oklahoma. When these buildings 
are completed the Church will be 
planted in every place thought 
strategic. It is hoped that by the 
time of the 'General Convention of 
1934 the district will have raised 
an endowment and will be admitted 
as a diocese. * * *

A  special convention of Duluth is 
to be held June 11 for the election 
of a Bishop Coadjutor.* * *

The Rev. Angus Dun of Cambridge 
seminary is to lead a conference of 
young college women at Adelynrood, 
South Byfield, Mass., September 5 
to 8. * * *

The cornerstone of the $200,000 
parish house of St. George’s, Flush­
ing, Long Island, was laid last Sun­
day by the rector, the Rev. George 
F. Taylor. A gold medal carrying 
the church seal and the figures of 
St. George and the dragon was pre­
sented to Dr. Lewis B. Franklin who 
was the chairman of the committee 
that solicited the fund for the build­
ing. $ * *

The Rev. J. Howard Melish of 
Brooklyn, preaching last Sunday at 
Holy Trinity, Brooklyn, said:

“ If there is something vitally 
wrong with it, it is better for all 
concerned that it be set right. There 
is freedom in the pulpit today, al­
lowing it to turn its hand to many 
problems in the Church. To the 
Church are intrusted great human 
needs and with this vital task to be 
done it behooves the fellowship of the 
Church to do it.”

The trouble in the Church, Dr. 
Melish explained lay not only in the 
clergy and the Church as a whole 
but with the individuals who compose 
it.

“ What is the effect of this apathy,

THE WITNESS FUND

DONATIONS to this Fund ai-e used to 
pay for the papers being sent each week 

to many institutions throughout the country 
as well as ' to missionaries and others who 
otherwise '• would > be without it. We would 
be very glad to have you specify, if you care 
to do so, just how you wish to have your 
donation used. We acknowledge with thanks 
the following donations to the Fund:
J. M. Hannan .......... ........ .......... ..... .......... $1.00
Chicago Friends ....... ............. ...'..... ..............  3.00
Rev. A. H. Lucas ............ ............................ 5.00
Rev. Christoph Keller ........ ........................ 1.00
Rev. Wallace J. Gardner ................ ..........  1.00
Marian Becker ................ .............................. 1.00
Mrs. Arthur T. Hill ................................... 1.00

ST. STEPHEN’S COLLEGE 
(Columbia University)

. A College o f Arts, Letters and Science 
definitely and officially o f 4 the Episcopal 
Church but with no ecclesiastical restrictions 
in the selection o f its student body; incorpo­
rated into the educational system of Colum­
bia University and conferring the University 
degree.

It combines the advantages o f University 
education with small college simplicity and 
inexpensiveness.

The College, founded in 1860, _ is equipped to 
teach men who, after graduation, are going 
into business o r , into post-graduate schools of 
medicine, law, journalism or theology, or into 
classical, scientific, social or literary research.

The fees are: For tuition, $300 a year; 
for furnished room, $150 a year; for board 
in hall. $300 a year. There are some com­
petitive scholarships and a few bursaries for 
men contemplating Holy Orders.

Address i Bernard Iddings Bell, Litt.D., 
Warden

ANNANDALE-ON-HUDSON, N. Y.
(R. R. Station: Barrytown)

St. Andrew’s School
near Middletown, Delaware

A  Church Boarding School for 
Boys to open September, 1930
Endowed. College Preparatory. 

Tuition $800. Boys from  12 to 15 
admitted for this' year.
Modern fireproof equipment. 860 acres 
fronting on two lakes,

REV. WALDEN PELL, 2nd,
: Headmaster.

Address, Lenox, Massachusetts

KEMPER HALL
KENOSHA. WISCONSIN 

Under the care of the Sisters of Saint 
Mary. An Episcopal school for girls on 
North Shore of Lake Michigan, one hon» 
from Chicago. College Preparatory and gen­
eral courses. Musie, Art, Domestic Science, 
Outdoor and Indoor Sports. Address, The 
Sister Superior.

Virginia Episcopal School
Lynchburg, Virginia

Prepares boys for college and university. 
Splendid environment and excellent corps of 
teachers. High standard in scholarship and 
athletics. Healthy and beautiful location in 
the mountains of Virginia. Charges excep­
tionally low. For • catalogue apply to Rev. 
Oscar deWolf Randolph, Rector.

H ARVARD  SCHOOL
Los Angeles, California

A school for boys under the auspices of 
the Episcopal Church. Fully accredited. 
R. O. T. C. 30th year opens September 17th. 
Outdoor sports in a fine climate. For all 
information, address the Rev. Robert B. 
Gooden, D.D.

ST. M AR Y’S SCHOOi
MOUNT ST. GABRIEL 

Peekskill-on-Hitdson 
BOARDING SCHOOL FOR GIRLS 

Under the care o f the Sisters of St. Mary. 
College preparatory and General courses. New 
modern fireproof buildings. Extensive recrea­
tion ‘grounds. Separate attention given to 
young children. For catalog address THB 
SISTER SUPERIOR.

Hospital o f St. Barnabas
SCHOOL OF NURSING

Offers 2%  years course leading to R. N. 
Degree. Classes enter Feb. and Sept. 

Enroll Now.
For full information, address 

DIRECTOR, SCHOOL OF NURSING 
Hospital of St. Barnabas 

Newark, N. J.
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particularly on the men of the min­
istry? One reaction is something like 
this: The clergyman says, ‘I’m going 
on holding services. If the people 
don’t come that’s their business and 
they can come or stay away.’ That 
is usually the attitude of the older 
men in the ministry.

“ The attitude of others in the min­
istry is illustrated by a case which 
appeared in the newspapers not long 
ago. A rector resigned and took a 
position at a quarter of the salary 
that he had,- received as minister. 
He said that he was set apart to 
minister to pews and not pew hold­
ers. Others have said that religion 
was dead and that something like 
socialism is spiritually and intel­
lectually alive. T h e s e  different 
phases of attitude do no good to the 
Church.”

The rector said that people who 
believed that the Church is a body 
expressing a deep need1 of human 
nature would think of the Church 
as a fellowship and Christianity as 
a mother. He said that it was a 
comradeship between man and God 
and it had brought knowledge, 
strength and comfort to men who 
looked “ not to life but something 
beyond life.”

*  ̂ SN
Meeting of the national council of 

the Brotherhood of St. Andrew was 
held in Philadelphia last week. It 
was voted to appoint a secretary for

Active Business and 
Professional Men 
Commend: —

GOD and MAN
A Helpful Manual for Daily Use

By BLAIR SCOTT
(Grandson of Walter Scott)

An Ideal Companion for 
Pentecost

Every phase of a spiritual life is 
here made clear as sunlight to 
the busy worker.
An intensely practical handbook which 
shows us the spiritual achievements 
of the Master, the prophets, and holy 
men of exalted thought as recorded in 
the Scriptures; and emphasizes the 
truth that the divine power is avail­
able to all who reflect the “Will of 
God.”
A book to study in conjunction with the 
Scriptures. It will bring to the understand­
ing the light of truth that giveth “ power 
against unclean spirits to cast them out, and 
to heal all manner of sickness and all 
manner of diseases,”  through the power of 
God that worketh in us.

Cloth, Round Comers, $1.50

FLEMING H. REVELL COMPANY
NEW YORK, 158 FIFTH AVE 

CHICAGO, 851 CASS ST.

junior work and it is expected that 
one will be named shortly. A  com­
mittee, headed by President Choate, 
was appointed to arrange for a meet­
ing with the Japanese Brotherhood 
in 1932. Also a committee, headed 
by ex-president Bonsall, was ap-

St. Paul’s, Milwaukee 
Rev. Holmes Whitmore 

Knapp and Marshall Streets 
Sundays: 8, 9:30, 11, and 4:30. 
Holy Days and Tuesdays, 9 :30. 

Wells-Downer cars to Marshall St.

St. Mark’s, Milwaukee 
Rev. E. Reginald Williams 

Hackett Ave. and Belleview Place 
Sundays: 8, 9 :30 and 11.
Gamma Kappa Delta: 6 P. M.
Holy Days: 10 A. M.

St. James, Philadelphia 
Rev. Jolui Mockridge 

22nd and Walnut Sts. 
Sundays: 8, 11, and 8.
Daily: 7:30, 9, and 6.
Holy Days and Thursdays, 10.

pointed to make arrangements for 
the celebration of the semi-centennial 
of the organization in 1933. An in­
vitation from Dr. Ben Finney of 
Sewanee to hold the next national 
convention of the Brotherhood at 
that institution was accepted.

St. Matthew’s Cathedral, Dallas 
Very Rev. George Rogers, Dean 

Rev. Edward C. Lewis 
Sundays: 8, 9 :30, 11:00 and 7 :45. 
Week Days: 7 A. M.

St. Mark’s, Berkeley, California 
Bancroft Way and Ellsworth Street 

Near the University of California 
Sundays: 7:30, 11:00 A. M., 7:45 P. M. 
Tuesdays : 10 :00 A. M.

Clarke County, Virginia 
Sunday Services

11:00 A. M., Christ Church, Millwood. 
8:00 P. M., Emmanuel Chapel, Boyce. 

Rural Churches on the Highway 
between North and South

Services of Leading Churches

Cathedral of St. John the Divine 
New York

Amsterdam Ave. and 111th St. 
Sunday Services : 8. 9, 11 A. M. and 

4 P. M.
Daily: 7:30 and 10 A. M. and 5:00 

P. M.

The Incarnation 
Madison Avenue and 35th Street 

Rev. H. Percy Silver, S.T.D., LL.D. 
Sundays: 8, Ì0, and 11 A. M., 4 P. M.

Trinity Church, New York 
Rev. Caleb R. Stetson, S.T.D. 

Broadway and Wall St. 
Sundays: 8, 9, 11, and 3:30.
Daily: 7:15, 12 and 3.

The Heavenly Rest and Beloved 
Disciple, New York 

Rev. Henry Darlington, D.D.
Fifth Ave. and Ninetieth St. 

Sundays: 8 and 11 A. M.

Grace Church, Brooklyn Heights 
Rev. George P. Atwater, D.D.

Hicks St., near Remsen, Brooklyn, N. Y.
Sundays: 8:00 A. M., 11 A. M.. 4:30 

P. M. •
Church School: 9 :45 A. M.

Grace Church, New York 
Rev. W. Russell Bowie, D.D. 

Broadway at 10th St.
Sundays: 8. 11. 4 and 8.
Daily: 12:30, except Saturday.
Holy Days and Thursday. Holy Com­

munion, 11:45.

St. John’s, Waterbury 
Rev. John N. Lewis, D.D: 

Sundays: 8, and 10:30 A.M., 7:30 P.M. 
Holy Communion: Wednesdays and Holy 

Days, 10 A. M.

Gethsemane, Minneapolis 
Rev. Don Frank Fenn, B.D.
4 ®  Ave. South at 9th St. 

Sundays: 7, 8, 9 :30, 11:00 and 7 :45, 
Wed., Thurs., Fri., and Holy Days.

Trinity Cathedral, Cleveland 
Dean Francis S. White, D.D. 

Sunday: 8, 11 and 4.
Daily : 8, 11 and 4.

Grace Church, Chicago 
(St. -Luke’s Hospital Chapel) 

Rev. Robert Holmes 
1450 Indiana Ave. 

Sundays: 8, 11:00 and 7:45. 
(Summer Evensong, 3 :00)

St. Paul’s, Chicago 
Rev. George H. Thomas 

Dorchester Ave. at Fiftieth St. 
Sundays: 8. 9:30, 11 and 5:00 P. M. 
Holy Days at 10 A. M.

The Atonement, Chicago 
Rev. Alfred Newbery 

, 5749 Kenmore Avenue 
Sundays : 7 :30, • 9 :30, 11 and 5.
Daily: 7:30, 9 and 5:30. Also Friday. 

10 :30.

St. Luke’s, Evanston 
Rev. George C. Stewart, D.D. 

Sundays: 7 :30, 8 :15, 11 and 4 :30.
Daily: 7:30 and 5. From Chicago, oB 

at Main, one block east and one north.

Grace Church 
Sandusky, Ohio 

Donald Wonders, Rector 
Sunday:

8:00 A. M". Holy Communion.
• 10 :30 A. M. Morning Service.

Christ Church, Cincinnati 
Rev. Frank H. Nelson 

Rev. Bernard W. Hummel 
Sundays: 8 :45, 11 A. M. and 7 :45 P. M. 
Holy Days: Holy Communion. 10 A. M.
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FINANCING SOCIAL PROGRESS

In Brooklyn, N. Y ., stands the new 
St. John’s Hospital, built by funds 
secured through the effort of nearly 
3,000  volunteer workers, under the 
inspiring leadership of Rt. Rev. Ernest 
M . Stires, Bishop of the Diocese, and 
Supreme Court Justice Stephen Calla­
ghan, and organized and directed by  
the firm of W ard, W ell$ and Dresh-
man.

The goal of $ 1 ,000 ,00 0  was at­
tained and about $ 1 28 ,0 00  of addi­
tional over-subscriptions secured.

This successful campaign is one of 
the many, large and small, which we 
have organized and directed.

In the past ten years, 
the members and asso­
ciates of the firm of 
Ward, Wells and Dresh- 
man have directed the 
raising of more them 
Five Hundred Million 
D o l l a r s  f o r  worthy 
causes.

Ward, Wells and Dreshman
475 Fifth Avenue, New York City
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